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Statement of Management’s Responsibilities for the Preparation and Approval of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditor’s responsibilities
stated in the independent auditor’s report set out on pages 2 - 4, is made with a view to distinguishing the
respective responsibilities of management and those of the independent auditors in relation to the
consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly the
financial position of the Group at 31 December 2018, and the results of its operations, cash flows and
changes in equity for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“"IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for;

o Selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently:
. Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. Slaling whether IFRS have been followed, subject to any malerial deparlures disclosed and explained
in the consolidated financlal statements; and
® Preparing the consolidated financial slalements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to

presume that the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

o Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls,
throughout the Group;

) Maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the
financial position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group comply with IFRS;

o Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan;

e Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

o Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorized for issue on
25 April 2019 by the Management Board.

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 25 April 20189.

Chairman
Mr. Elkhan Aghayev




Baltie Caspian Audit LLC
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Tel: +99455 260 20 77
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock Company “Xalq Bank”

Report an the audit of the consolidatod financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OJSC Xalg Bank (the Bank) and its subsidiaries
(together, the Group), which comprise the consclidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or [oss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements” section of this Independent auditor's report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Intemational Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants {IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Republic of
Azerbaijan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and the Audit Committee for the consolidated financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such intemal control as management detemines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting undess management either intends to fiquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Baltic Caspian dudit LLC 15 a member of Crowe Global. Bach member firm of Crowe is a separate and independant legal entity, Baltic Caspian Audit LLC and its affiliates are not responsible
or liable for any acts or omissions af Crowe or any other piermiber of Crawe and specifically disclaim any and all responsibility or liability Jor acts or emissions of Crawe or any other Crowe
member. & 2019 Baltic Caspian Audit
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Crowe Beltc Caspian Audit LLC

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance willi ISAS, we exerdise professional judyinend and inaltilaln professlonal
skeptioism throughout the audit. We alsc:

Identify and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to pravide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resuiting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal confrol.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
apinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaiuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concem basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, fo modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of cur auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and evenis in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consclidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for cur audit opinian.

Baltic Caspian Audit LLC is & momber of Crowe Global Each member finn of Crowe is a separate and independent Jegal entity, Baltic Caspian Audit LLC and its affifiates are not responsible
or liable for any acts or omissions of Crowe or any other member of Crowe and specifically disclaim any and ail responsibility or liabil lity for acts or omissions of Crowe or any othier Crowe
member. © 2019 Raltic Caspian Audit
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in intemal control
that we identify during our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Samir Asadullayev.

<

Samir Asadullayev
Licensed auditor (license no. U/2/86)
Baltic Caspian Audit LLC

Member Firm of Crowe Global

25 April 2019
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

Baitic Caspian Audit LLC is a member of Crowe Global. Each member firm of Crowe is a separate and independent legal entity. Baltic Caspian Audit LLC and its affiliates are not responsible
or liable for any acts or omissions of Crowe or any other member of Crowe and specifically disclaim any and all responsibility or liability for acts or omissions of Crowe or any other Crowe
member. © 2019 Baltic Caspian Audit




Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended 31 December 2018

(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Credit loss expense on interest bearing assets

Net interest income after credit loss expense

Net fee and commission income

Nel gain on forelgn exchange operations

Net (loss) / gain on precious metals oporations

Gain on revaluation of investment property

Provision for impairment losses on non-interest bearing assets
Other income

Non-interest income

Personnel expenses
General and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortisation
Recovery of provision / (provision) for impairment losses on
guarantees and other commitments

Non-interest expense
Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Net profit for the year

Attributable to:
- shareholders of the Bank
- non-controlling interest

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted (AZN)

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of T M2
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Year ended
31 December 2018

Year ended
31 December 2017

109,399,694 100,130,599
(23,158,018) (25,552,727)
86,241,676 74,577,872

(24,893,112)

(25,681,851)

61,348,564 43,896,021
4,377,772 5,678,187
1,888,606 3,173,637

(211,205) 1,219,629
201,840 41,806
3,039,742 (6,613,841)
054,049 1,104,813
10,250,904 4,604,231

(21,330,532)

(15,434,956)

(13,863,957) (12,115,114)
(4,878,483) (4,854,423)
53,171 (105,036)
(40,019,801) (32,509,529)
31,579,667 20,990,723
(6,353,987) (4,048 565)
25,225,680 16,942,158
25,221,584 16,940,080
4,096 2,078
25,225,680 16,942,158
6.948 4.666

ent Board on 25 April 2019.

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018

(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals
Amounts due from credit institutions
Loans to customers
Forfeiting
Investment securities
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Olher assels

Total assets

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks and government agencles
Customer accounts
Provision for impairment losses on other operations
Current income tax liability
Deferred income tax liability
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Retained earnings
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Notes

13

14
15
16
17
18
19
18
20

21
22
25

11
23

24

31 December 2018

278,209,512
14,989,411
66,439,965

1,332,211,034

165,521,670
66,571,711

7,027,246
1,511,655
59,266,324

31 December 2017

107,085,013
15,305,466
62,232,884

1,263,204,930
4,498,167

236,824,246

68,214,636
6,825,306
1,551,970

27,022,390

1,991,748,528

1,792,766,008

376,157,633 356,642,796
1,335,034,786 1,183,456,480
61,703 203,376
4,158,131 2,439,634
2,387,920 1,457,705
7,087,571 7,564,346
1,724,888,744 1,551,764,337
225,078,600 225,078,600
41,671,137 15,813,360
110,047 108,711
266,859,784 241,000,671

1,991,748,528

1,792,765,008

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 25 April 2019.

Chairman
Mr. Elkhan Aghayev

(4

-

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

(in Azerbaijan Manats)

31 December 2016

Capitalization of retained earnings
Total income for the year
Change in ownership interest in subsidiary

31 December 2017

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 (Note 4)

Rostatad opening balance under IFRS 9

Dividends to sharelolders of Bank
Total income for the year
Change in ownership interost in subsidiary

31 December 2018

Share capital Retained Non-controlling Total equity
earnings interest
211,646,490 12,305,390 117,911 224,069,791
13,432,110 (13,432,110) - -
- 16,940,080 2,078 16,942,158
- - (11,278) (11,278)
225,078,600 15,813,360 108,711 241,000,671
- 6,626,188 - 6,626,188
225,078,600 22,439,548 108,711 247,626,854
- (5,989,995) - (5,989,995)
25,221,584 4,096 25,225,680
- - (2,760) (2,760)
225,078,600 41,671,137 110,047 266,859,784

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Management Board on 25 April 2018.

Chairman
Mr. Elkhan Aghayev

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2018

{in Azerbaifan Manats}

MNotfes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for;

Provision for impairment losses on interest bearing assets 6
Recovery of provision for guarantees and other

commitments

Provision for impairment losses on non-interest bearing

assets

Net unrealized loss / (gain) arising from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates

Deprodlalion and amorllzallon I8
Galn on revaluation of mvestment property 18
Gain on disposal of property and equipment

Change in interest accruals, net
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and llabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Precious metals
Amounts due from credit institutions
Leans to customers
Forfeiting
Other assets
Increase/(decrease) in operating ligbilities:
Amounts due to banks and gevernment agencies
Customer accounts
Other liabilities

Cash inflow from operating activities before taxation

Income tax paid

Net cash inflow from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets 18
Proceeds on disposal of propery and equipment
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investment securities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities

Year ended
31 December 2018

Year ended
31 December 2017

31,579,667 20,990,723
24,893,112 25,681,851
(74,534) 105,036
(3,039,742) 6,613,841
297,371 1,133,068
4,878,483 4,854,423
(201,040) (41,808)
(40,170) (102,243)
(1,233,190) 3,525,321
57,059,057 62,760,214
316,055 (1,192,784)
(3.869,207) 32,254 101
(84,513,085) (75,973,298)
4,589,966 8,712,644
(29,202,870) (9,567,480)
19,489,573 73,415,776
151,566,731 53,169,642
(476,775) (4,660,817)
114,959,445 138,917,998
(5,360,822) (1,360,164)
109,598,623 137,557,834
(3,238,673) (4,744,162)
83,600 155,750
70,871,075 (160,163,312)
{2,760) {11,278)
67,813,242 (164,763,002)

The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Year ended Year ended
Notes 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Bank (5,989,995) -
Net cash inflow from financing activities (5,989,995) -

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents (297,371) (1,133,088)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 171,124,499 (28,338,236)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 107,085,013 135,423,249
Cash and oash equivalents, end of year 13 B 278,209,512 107,085,013

Interest paid and recsived by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted lo AZN
23,121,179 and AZN 108,129,665, respectively.

Interest paid and received by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to AZN
26,443,386 and AZN 104,546,579, respectively.

4
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The accompanying notes on pages 10 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Background

Xalgq Bank is a joint stock company which was established on 24 December 2004 in accordance with
establishment agreement and was registered by the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic on 27 December
2004. The address of its registered office is 221 Inshaatchilar Avenue, Baku, AZ 1008, Azerbaijan. The Bank
is regulated by Financial Market Supervision Authority of Azerbaijan Republic (the “FIMSA”) and conducts its
business under the general banking license number 246. The Bank had 29 and 29 branches in Azerbaijan
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 respectively. The Bank’s primary business consists of commercial
activities, trading with foreign currencies, originating loans and guarantees.

The number of employees of the Bank at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was 628 and 572, respectively.

The Bank is a parent company of a banking group (the "Group”} which consisis of the following enterprises
congolidated in the financial statemeants:

The Bank ownership
Interest/ voting rights
Name Country of operation 2018 2017 Type of operation

Xalg Kapital LLC The Republic of Azerbaijan 100 % 100 % Securities market transactions
Baki Ayaqqabi -2 OJSC  The Republic of Azerbaijan 98.36%  98.35%  Dormant

“Xalg Kapital” LLC is a limited liability company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan on 17 August 2007.
The company’s principal activity is operations with securities, broker and dealer operations.

“Baki Ayaqgabi -2" QJSC is a Joint Stock Company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan in December
1980. The Company’s principal activity had been the manufacture of footwear. The Company has not been
functioning since June 1999. The Group has acquired the controlling interest in the Company’s capital with
the primary purpose of using it as investment property. The Group’s management is still uncertain of the
detailed plans regarding the Company.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the following shareholders owned the issued shares of the Bank:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Ownership Ownership

interest, % interest, %
Ideal Biznes Ko LLC 50.00 50.00
Yevro Standart LLC 33.85 33.85
AMAL Invest Group LLC 16.15 16.15
Total 100 100

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank is ultimately owned by Mrs. Leyla Aliyeva and Mrs. Arzu
Aliyeva, who exercise joint control over the Bank.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manatis)

Basis of presentation
Accouniing basis

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting I[nterpretations Committee (*IFRIC”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Azerbaijan Manats (“AZN") unless otherwise
indicated. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for the measurement at fair value of certain financial instruments and measurement of investment
property at revalued amounts according to International Accounting Standard (“IAS") No. 40 “Investment
Property”.

[ he Group malintains Its acoounting records in accordance with Azerbaljarn law. [hese consolidaled financlal
gtatements have been prepared based on the Azerbajani statutory accounting records and have been
adjusted to conform with IFRS. These adjustments include certain reclassifications to reflect the economic
subslance of underlying transactions including reclassifications of certain assets and liabililies, income and
expenses to appropriate financial statement captions.

Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities
controlled by the Bank (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the
Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair
values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values
of the identifiable net assetfs acquired (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited to the consolidated income
statement in the period of acquisition. The minority interest is stated at the minority's proportion of the fair
values of the assets and liabilities recognized. Subsequently, any losses applicable to the minority interest in
excess of the minority interest are allocated against the interests of the parent. The equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent and net income attributable to minority shareholders’ interests are shown
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position and income statement, respectively.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
used into line with those used by the Group.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The difference, if any, between the carrying amount of minority interest and the amount received on its
purchase is recognized in equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

11



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments carried at FVPL and FVOCI and non-financial assets such as
investment property, at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or & llabllity [s imeasted using the assunplions thal markel parlicipanls would use when pricing the asset or
liabilily, assutning lat markel participanis act in their economic best interest. A fair valuo measurement of a
non-linancial assel takes mto account a market participant’s abliity to generate economie benefils by uging
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use. :

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservabie inputs. All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

) Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

. Level 3 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets and liabilities

Initial recognition
Date of recognition

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the trade date i.e.
the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset or liability. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets and liabilities that require delivery of assets and liabilities within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Initial measurement

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the
business model for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value
and, except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are
added 1o, or subtracted from, this amount.

12



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for
managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either:

. Amortised cost;
. FVOCI;
. FVPL.

The Group classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVPL. The Group may designate
financial instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition
incansistencies.

Boforo 1 January 2018, the Bank clascified ite financial assets as loans and recelvables (amortised cost),
FVPL., available-for-sale or held-to-maturity {amortised cost)

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortised cost
or at FVPL when they are held for trading, are derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied.

Amounts due from credit institutions, loans to customers, investments securities af amortised cost
Before 1 January 2018, amounts due from credit institutions and loans to customers included non-derivative

financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not quoted in an active market, other than
those:

. That the Group intended to sell immediately or in the near term;
. That the Group, upon initial recognition, designated as at FVPL or as available-for-sale;
. For which the Group may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of

credit deterioration, which were designated as available-for-sale.

From 1 January 2018, the Group only measures amounts due from credit institutions, loans to customers
and other financial investments at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows;

. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding {SPPI).

The details of these conditions are outlined below.
Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial
assets to achieve its business objective.

The Group’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

. How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model
are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

. The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;

. How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based
on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected);

. The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s
assessment.
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The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or
‘stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different
from the Group's original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining
financial assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when assessing newly
originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPI test

As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms of financial asset to
identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition
and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, It there are repayments of princlpal or
amortisation of the premlum/discount).

The most significant elements of inleresl wilhin a lending arrangement are typically the considoration for the
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPP| assessment, the Group applies Judgement and
considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period
for which the interest rate is set.

In confrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the
financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL.

Debt instruments at FVYOCI

From 1 January 2018, the Group applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at
FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met:

. The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets;

. The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to
changes in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. On
derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or
loss.

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOG! do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial
assets in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the
allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recoegnised in OCl as an
accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss
recognised in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the asset.

Equily instruments at FVOC!

From 1 January 2018, upon initial recognition, the Group occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of
its equity investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity under |1AS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycied to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains
are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. Upon
disposal of these instruments, the accumulated revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.
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Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments
The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, being the premium
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and — under I1AS 37 (before 1 January 2018) — the best estimate of expenditure
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee, or — under IFRS 9 {from 1
January 2018) — an ECL provision.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to
financial guaranlee conlracls, tnder IAS 39, a provision was made if they were an onerous vonlract but, from
I January 2018, these contracls are in the scope of the ECL requirements.

Performance guarantees

Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a
contractual obligation. Performance guaraniees do not transfer credit risk. The risk under performance
guarantee coniracts is the possibility that the failure to perform the contractual obligation by another party
occurs. Therefore, performance guarantees are not considered financial instruments and thus do not fall in
scope of IFRS 8.

Loans and receivables

Before 1 January 2018, loans and receivables were non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that were not quoted in an active market. They were not entered into with the intention of
immediate or short-term resale and were not classified as trading securities or designated as invesiment
securities available-for-sale. Such assets were carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses were recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables were derecognised or
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments

Before 1 January 2018, non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity were classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold
them to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period were not included in this
classification. Held-to-maturity investments were subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains and
losses were recognised in profit or loss when the investments are impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Before 1 January 2018, available-for-sale financial assets were those non-derivative financial assefs that
were designated as available-for-sale or were not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After
initial recognition available-for sale financial assets were measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment was derecognised or until the investment
was determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other
comprehensive income was reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. However, interest
calculated using the effective interest method was recognised in profit or loss.

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Group does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial
recognition, apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the Group changes the business model for
managing financial assets. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did not reclassify any of its
financial assets and liabilities in 2017.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, amounts due from the Central Bank of Azerbaijan
Republic, including time deposits ut to 15 days, and correspondent accounts with other banks.

Precious metals

Assets and liabilities denominated in gold and other precious metals are translated at the current rate
computed based on the Central Bank rate effective at the date. Changes in the bid prices are recorded in net
gain on operations with precious metals.

Allowance for impairment iosses under |1AS 39
Assels catried at atnortized cost

[ he Group accounts for Impairment losses of financial assels thal are nol canled al falt value when llete is
objective evidence that a financlal asset or group of financial assets is impaited. The impairment losses are
measured as the difference between carrying amounts and the present value of expected future cash flows,
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. Such impairment losses are not reversed unless if in a subsequent period the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognized, such as recoveries, in which case the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed by adjusting an allowance account.

For financial assets carried at cost the impairment losses are measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financiat asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, a consolidated amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal payment and amortization) and its current fair vaiue, less any impairment loss previously
recognized in the consolidated income statement, is transferred from equity to the consolidated income
statement. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale
are not recognized in the consolidated income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the consolidated income statement if the increase in fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss were recognized in the
consolidated income statement.

The determination of impairment losses is based on an analysis of the risk assets and reflects the amount
which, in the judgment of management, is adequate to provide for losses incurred. Provisions are made as a
result of an individual appraisal of risk assets for financial assets that are individually significant, and an
individual or collective assessment for financial assets that are not individually significant.

The change in impairment losses is charged to profit either through allowance account {financial assets that
are carried at amortized cost) or direct write-off (financial assets carried at cost). The total of the impairment
losses is deducted in arriving at assets as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Factors
that the Group considers in determining whether it has objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred include information about the debtors’ or issuers’ liquidity, solvency and business and financiai risk
exposures, levels of and trends in delinquencies for similar financial assets, national and local economic
trends and conditions, and the fair value of collateral and guarantees. These and other factors may, either
individually or taken together, provide sufficient objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred in a financial asset or group of financial assets.

It should be understood that estimates of losses involve an exercise of judgment. While it is possible that in
particular periods the Group may sustain losses which are substantial relative for impairment losses, it is the
judgment of management that the impairment losses are adequate to absorb losses incurred on risk assets,
at the reporting date.

Information on impairment assessment under IFRS 9 is presented in Note 30.
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Investment properties

Investment property comprises land or buildings, which are held in order to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both, and which are not occupied by the companies in the Group or otherwise held for sale.
Property held under operating lease is classified as investment property if, and only if, it meets the definition
of an investment property. Investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the property. If this
information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in the income statement.

Premises, equipment and intangible assets

Property, equipment and intangible assets are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization ancd any recognized Impalrment logs. Depreciation on assely under congtruction and thoso not
placed in service commences from the date the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreclation of property, equipment and amortization of Inlangible assels Is charged on lheir hislorical cost
and is designed to write off assets over their useful lives. It is calculated on a straight line basis at the
following annual rates:

Building 3.3%
Furniture and equipment 25%
Computers 25%
Vehicles 15%
Other equipment 20%
Intangible assets 10%

The carrying amounts of property, equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and where the carrying values
exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts.
Impairment is recognized in the respective period and is included in operating expenses. After the
recognition of an impairment loss the depreciation charge for property and equipment is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the assets’ revised carrying value, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis
over its remaining useful life.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying econemic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax expense for the current period is
determined on the basis of the taxable profit received in the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further exciudes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax expense is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted during the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is reported using the balance sheet liability method and represents income tax assets and
liabilities on the temporary difference between the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the respective
tax accounting data used to arrive at the taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the respective deferred tax assets can be utilized. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in transactions that affect
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary
differances and they are expected to reverse In tho forososable future.

The carrying value of doforrod tax asests is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable lhat a relaled tax benefit will be realized sufficient for full or partial rccovery of the
asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset by the Group with the resulting difference reported in the
financial statements if:

. The Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the current tax assets and current tax liabilities;
and .

. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority
on the same taxpayer.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

Amounts due to banks and customer accounts

Amounts due to banks and customer accounts are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently amounts
due are stated at amortized cost and any difference between carrying and redemption value is recognized in
the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position but are disclosed
unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, other
than on a business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity. Any excess of the
fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recognised as additional paid-in
capital.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a reduction in the period in which they are
declared. Dividends that are declared after the reporting date are treated as a subsequent event under
International Accounting Standard 10 “Events after the reporting period” (“IAS 107} and disclosed
accordingly.
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Retirement and other benefit obligations

In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan, the Group withholds
amounts of pension contributions from employee salaries and pays them fo the state pension fund. Such
expense is charged in the period the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement all retirement benefit
paymenis are made by the state pension fund. The Group does not have any pension arrangements
separate from the state pension system of Azerbaijan, which requires current contributions by employer
calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments. In addition, the Group has no post-retirement
benefits or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured. [he following spooific rocognition criterla musl also be mel belore
rovenue is recognisod:

Interest and similar revenue and expense

From 1 January 2018, the Group calculates interest revenue on debt flnanclal assets measured al amorlized
cost or at FVOCI by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-
impaired assets (before 1 January 2018: by applying EIR to the amortized cost of financial assets). EIR is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument
(for example, prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the instrument and are an integral part of the eifective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or
receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and
the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest revenue or expense.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the Group calculates interest revenue by applying the
effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no
longer credit-impaired, the Group reverts to calculating interest revenue on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, the Group calculates interest revenue
by calculating the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The credit-
adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at original recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows
{including credit losses) to the amortised cost of the POCI assets.

Interest revenue on all financial assets at FVPL is recognised using the contraciual interest rate.

Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers.
Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a ceriain period of time

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees
include commission income on guarantees and letters of credit. Loan commitment fees for loans that are
likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.

Fee income earned at a point in time

Fees arising from settiement and cash operations are recognized upon completion of the underlying
transactions. Each cash operation and settlement operation is treated as a separate performance obligation.
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Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Azerbaljan Manats at
the appropriate spot rates of exchange ruling at the reporiing date. Foreign currency transactions are
accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Profits and losses arising from
these translations are included in net gain on foreign exchange operations.

Rates of exchange

The exchange rates at the year end used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

USD | —« AZN 1.7000 USD 1 - AZN 1.7001
EUR 1 = AZN 1.4468 CUR | = AZN 2.0307
GBP 1= AZN2.1529 GBP | = AZN 2.2881
RUR 1 = AZN 0.0245 RUR 1 = AZN 0.0295

Offset of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net on the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends
either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simuitaneously. In accounting for a
transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the Group does not offset the transferred
asset and the associated liability.

Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations

Certain new standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2018. The nature
and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these new accounting standards are described below.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods on or after
1 January 2018. The Bank has not restated comparative information for 2017 for financial instruments in the
scope of IFRS 9. Therefore, the comparative information for 2017 is reported under |AS 39 and is not
comparable to the information presented for 2018. Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 have
been recognised directly in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and are disclosed below.

(a)  Classification and measurement

Under IFRS 9, ali debt financial assets that do not meet a “solely payment of principal and interest” (SPPI)
criterion, are classified at initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). Under this criterion,
debt instruments that do not correspond to a “basic lending arrangement”, such as instruments containing
embedded conversion options or “non-recourse” loans, are measured at FVPL. For debt financial assets that
meet the SPPI criterion, classification at initial recognition is determined based on the business maodel, under
which these instruments are managed:

. Instruments that are managed on a “hold to collect” basis are measured at amortised cost;

. Instruments that are managed on a “hold to collect and for sale” basis are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

. Instruments that are managed on other basis, including trading financial assets, will be measured at
FVPL.
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Equity financial assets are required to be classified at initial recognition as FVPL unless an irrevocable
designation is made to classify the instrument as FVOCI. For equity investments classified as FVOCI, all
realised and unrealised gains and losses, except for dividend income, are recognised in other
comprehensive income with no subseguent reclassification to profit and loss.

The classification and measurement of financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from the current [AS 33
requirements.

{b}  Impairment

The adoption of IFRS @ has fundamentally changed the Group's accounting for loan impairment by replacing
IAS 39 incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. From 1 January
2018, the Group has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt
financlal assets not held at | VI'L, togather with loan commilmenlg and fmanocial guarantee contracts. Equity
instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 8.

The allowance Is based on the ECLs associated wilh Lhe probability of default in the next twelve months
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. If the financial asset meets the
definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI), the allowance 15 based on the change in the
ECLs over the life of the asset. Details of the Group’s impairment method are disclosed in Note 30. The
quantitative impact of applying IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 is disclosed in section (c} below.

(c)  Effect of transition fo IFRG 9

The following tables set out the impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position and retained
eamings as at 1 January 2018 including the effect of replacing 1AS 39 incurred credit loss calculations with
IFRS 9 ECL.

A recongiliation between the carrying amounts under 1AS 39 to the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1
January 2018 is as follows:

Re-
IAS 39 measuUrement measurement IFRS 8

Financial assets Category Amount ECL Amount Category
Cash and cash equivalents L&R! 107,085,013 - 107,085,013 Amortised cost
Amounts due from credit institutions L&R 62,232,884 413,735 62,646,612 Amortised cost
Loans to customers L&R 1,263,204,930 7,961,997 1271,166,927 Amortised cost
investment securities — amortised cost HTM? 236,644,596 (160,137) 236,484,459 Amortised cost
Investment securities — equity securities :

at FVOCI AFS? 179,650 - 179,650 FVOCI (equity)

24,060,879 - 24,060,879

Other financial assets

Total financial assets

Non-financial liabilities

1,693,407,952

8,215,595 1,701,623,547

Provisions 203,376 (67,139) 136,237
Deferred tax liabilities 1,457,705 1,656,547 3,114,252
Total liabilities 1,661,081 1,589,408 3,250,489

! L&R:Loans and receivabies.
2 HTM: Held-to-maturity.
% AFS: Available-for-sale.
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The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on retained earnings is as follows:

Retained

earnings

Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017) 15,813,360
Recognition of IFRS 9 ECLs 8,282,735
Deferred tax in relation to the above (1,656,547}
Restated opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 January 2018) 22,439,548
Total change in equity due to adopting IFRS 9 6,626,188

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening loan loss allowances under IAS 39 and provisions for
loan commitments and financial guarantee coniracts in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions Contingent
Liabilibies and Cottingent Assets to lhe ECL allowances under [1 RS 9.

Loan loss allowance:

provision under IAS ECL under
39/1AS 57 Remeasuremant IFRS 9 at
at 31 Dgcember 2017 under IFRS 9 1 January 2018

Impairment allowance for
Loans and receivables at amortised cost {111,837,455) 7,961,997 (103,875,458)
Amounts due from credit institutions (417,914) 413,735 (4,179)
Investment securities at amortised cost - {160,137} (160,137)
(112,255,369} 8,215,595 {104,039,773)
Credit related commitments and performance guarantees (203,376) 67,139 (136,237)
(112,458,745) 8,282,735 (104,176,010}

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, and amended in April 2016, establishes a five-step model fo account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. However, the standard does not apply to revenue associated with financial
instruments and leases, and therefore, does not impact the majority of the Group’s revenue including interest
income, gains/{losses) on operations with securities, lease income which are covered by IFRS 8 Financial
instruments. As a result, the majority of the Group’s income are not impacted by the adoption of this
standard.

The following amended standards became effective for the Group from 1 January 2018, but did not have any
material impact on the Group:

«  Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (issued on 20 June 2016 and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

s Applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” — Amendments o
IFRS 4 (issued on 12 September 2016 and effective, depending on the approach, for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 for entities that choose o apply temporary exemption option, or
when the entity first applies IFRS § for entities that choose to apply the overlay approach).

«  Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle — Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 {issuedon 8
December 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

e IFRIC 22 — “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” (issued on 8 December
2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

e Transfers of Investment Properly — Amendments to IAS 40 (issued on 8 December 2016 and
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that become effective for the accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 or later periods and which are relevant to the Group but not
early adopted by the Group.

IFRS 16 Leases (issued In January 2016 and effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019}. IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a
manner similar to the way in which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 17 Leases. Lessees
will recognise a ‘right of use’ asset and a corresponding financial liability on the balance sheet. The asset will
be amortized over the length of the lease and the financial liability measured at amortized cost. Lessor
accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 17 Leases.

1 ong-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures - Amendments fo IAS 28 (issued on 12 October
2017 and effectlve for annual perlods beginting on or afler 1 Jahuary 2019) The amendments olarify that
reporling erdities should apply IFRS Y Lo long-term loans, preference shares and sitilar instruments that
form part of a net investment in an equity method investee before they can reduce such carrying value by a
share of loss of the investee that exceeds the amount of investor's interest in ordinary shares.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracis (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to carry on
accounting for insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consequence, it was difficult for investors to
compare and contrast the financial performance of otherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 17 is a
single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance confracts, including reinsurance
contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires recognition and measurement of groups of insurance
contracts at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that
incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent with
observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) or minus (if this value is an asset) (i) an
amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin). Insurers
will be recognising the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide insurance
coverage, and as they are released from risk. If a group of contracts is or becomes loss-making, an entity will
be recognising the loss immediately.

Sale or Coniribution of Assels between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued in September 2014 with latest changes on 15 December 2015; effective date
is not set). The amendments address the acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10
and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is contributed to an associate or a joint
venture. The amendments clarify that an investor recognizes a full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of
assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The gain or loss resulting from the re- measurement at fair value of an investment retained in a
former subsidiary is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in that former subsidiary.

Described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the Group's
financial statemenis.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manais)

Net interest income

Net interest income comprise:

Interest income comprises
Interest on loans to customers
Interest on debt securities
Interest on due from banks
Interest on guarantees
Interest on other operations

Total interest income on financlal assets recorded at amortized cost

Interest expanse comprises:
Interest on customer accounts

Interest on due fo banks and government agencies

Total interest expense on financial assets recorded at amortized cost

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
85,895,081 86,539,186
14,831,174 8,197,263

7,780,398 5,029,888
736,411 297,571
156,630 66,691

109,399,694 100,130,599
{15,663,157) (17,992,889)
(7,494,861) (7,559,838)

{23,158,018)

(25,552,727)

Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on interest

bearing assets 86,241,676 74,577,872
Credit loss expense and other impairment and provisions
The movements in credit loss expense on interest earning assets were as follows:

Forfeiting Investment Due from l.oans to Total

securities banks customers

31 December 2016 {133,026) - {906,310) (105,592,919) (106,632,255)
{Provision} / recovery of provision 41,227 - 488,396 (26,211,474) (25,681,851)
Write-off of assets - - - 19,966,938 19,966,938
31 December 2017 (91,799) - {417,914) (111,837,455) (112,347,168)
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 - (160,137) 413,735 7,961,997 8,215,595
Restated opening balance under
IFRS 9 {91,799) (160,137) (4,179)  (103,875,458) (104,131,573)
(Provision) / recovery of provision 91,799 74,346 (128,137) (24,931,120} (24,893,112}
Write-off of assets - - - 10,531,689 10,531,689
31 December 2018 - (85,791) {132,316) (118,274,889) (118,492,996)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(in Azerbaijan Manhats)

The movements in provision for impairment losses on guarantees and other commitments were as follows:

31 December 2016

Provision

31 December 2017

Impact of adopting IFRS ¢
Reslualed opetiing balance under IFRS 9

Recovery of provision
Write-off

31 December 2018

Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income and expense comprise:

Fee and commissioh income:
Plastic cards operations
Settlements

Forfeiting

Cash operations

Foreign exchange operations
Letters of credit

Guarantee letters

Cther

Total fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense:
Plastic cards operations

Settlements

Cash operations

Letters of credit

Broker operationst

Other

Total fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Year ended 31

Guaraniees
and other
commitments

(98,340)

(105,036)

(203,376)

67,139
{136,237)

53,171
21,383

(61,703}

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
1,647,636 1,489,698
1,622,754 1,459,167
1,514,622 2,568,866
1,425,163 1,035,104

882,441 1,186,060
99,734 7,285
61,310 39,439

309,985 211,022

7,563,645 7,996,651
(1,491,4786) (1,333,269)
(659,360} (404,150}
(199,130} (158,017}
{55,353) (2,858)
(5,348) (46,817)
{775,206) (373,344)
{3,185,873) {2,318,464)
4,377,772 5,678,187
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Net gain on foreign exchange operations

Net gain on foreign exchange operations comprise:

Dealing differences, net
Translation differences, net

Total net gain on foreign exchange operations

Net (loss) / gain on praclous metals oparations

Net (loss) / gain on procious metals operations comprise:

Net gain on precious metals operations
Translation difference on precious metals

Total net (loss) / gain on precious metals operations

Personnel, general and administrative expenses

Personnel, general and administrative expenses comprises:

Salaries and bonuses
Social security costs
Other employee related expenses

Total personnel expenses

Payments fo the Depasit Insurance Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan
Operating leases

Taxes, other than income tax

Membership iees

Security expenses

Repairs and maintenance expenses
Professional services fees

Advertising and marketing expenses
Insurance

Transportation and business trip expenses
GCommunications

Utilities

Entertainment

Stationery expenses

Other expenses

Total general and administrative expenses

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
2,185,977 4,306,705

(297,371} {1,133,068)
1,888,606 3,173,637

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
4211 10,308
(215,416) 1,209,321
{211,205) 1,219,629

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
(17,497,906) (12,532,796)
(3,741,639) (2,772,140)
(80,987) {130,020)
(21,330,532) {15,434,956)
{3,758,078) (3,806,212)
(1,349,367) (1,346,054)
(1,138,598} (815,798}
(1,154,379} (675,118)
{990,763) (761,886)
(787,629) (622,311)
(752,023) {305,840)
(650,228} (609,486)
(577,5186) (548,412)
{470,639) (376,476)
(395,729) {755,870)
(341,921) (322,203)
(269,276) (186,888)
(222,194) (242,262)
{(1,005,617) (740,300}

(13,863,957)

(12,115,114)
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manhais)

Income taxes

The Group provides for taxes based on the tax accounts maintained and prepared in accordance with the tax
regulations of countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate and which may differ from International

Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to non-tax deductibility of certain expenses

and a tax free regime for certain income. The statutory income tax rate is 20%.

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

Temporary differences as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 relate mostly to dilferent methods of income and

expense recognition as well as to recorded values ot certain agsets.

Temporary dillerences ag al 31 Decemnber 2018 and 2017 comprise:
31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Deductible temporary differences:
Allowance for loan impairment 19,188,248 9,313,552
Other liabilities 3,383,366 2,502,887
Amortization 585,880 453,314
Investment securities 85,790 -
Other assets - 107,055
Total deductible temporary differences 23,243,284 12,376,808
Taxable temporary differences:
Depreciation (12,423,595} (11,247,653)
Precious metals (8,142,647} (8,417,680)
Provision for impairment losses on other operations (336,959} .
Amounts due from credit institutions (107,645} -
Other assets {(14,172,038) -
Total deductible temporary differences (35,182,884) (19,665,333)
Net deferred (taxable)} / deductible temporary differences {11,939,600) (7,288.,525)
Net deferred tax (liability) / asset at the statutory tax rate {20%) (2,387,920) (1,457,705)
Net deferred tax {liability) / asset (2,387,920) (1,457,705)

Relationships between tax expenses and accounting profit for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

are explained as follows:

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
Profit before income tax 31,579,667 20,990,723
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 20% 6,315,933 4,198,145
Tax effect of permanent differences 38,054 (149,580)
Income tax expense 6,353,987 4,048,565
Current income lax expense 7,080,319 3,799,798
Deferred income tax expense / (beneiit) (726,332) 248,767
Income tax expense 6,353,987 4,048,565
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Deferred income tax liability

Beginning of the period

Effect of adoption of IFRS 9
Change in the income tax assets for the period charged to profit

End of the period

Earnings per share

The earmnings per share are calculaled as follows:

Profit:
Net profit for the year
Weighted average number of ordinary sharas for basic earnings per share

Earnings per share — basic and diluted {AZN)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash on hand

Correspondent accounts with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic
Correspondent accounts with other banks

Time deposits with Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic up to 15 days

Total cash and cash equivalents

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
(1,457,705) {1,208,938)
(1,656,547} -

726,332 {248,767)
(2,387,920} (1,457,705)
Year endad 31 Year ended 31
December 2018 Deocember 2017
25,221,684 16,940,080
3,630,300 3,630,300
6.948 4.666

31 December

31 December

2018 2m7
42,947,648 36,056,016
40,119,798 7,708,702
85,595,281 53,308,212

109,546,785 10,012,083
278,209,512 107,085,013

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued interest income included in cash and cash equivalents

amounted to AZN 265,121 and AZN 12,083, respectively.

For the purpose of ECL measurement cash and cash equivalent balances are included in Stage 1. The ECL
for these balances represents an insignificant amount, therefore the Group did not create any credit loss

allowance for cash and cash equivalents.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manals)

Amounts due from credit institutions
Amounts due from credit institutions comprise:

31 December

3t December

2018 2017

Loans and time deposits with other banks 40,890,716 36,586,982
Obligatory reserve with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic 10,156,520 8,572,410
Restricted deposits 15,525,045 17,491,406
66,572,281 62,650,798

Less: allowance for impairment (132,316) (417,914}
Total armounts due lrom credil institutions 66,429,965 62,232,884

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued inlerasl income included in due from credit institutions amounted

to AZN 63,054 and AZN 10,778, respectlvely.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank had restricted deposits blocked in support of guarantees issued
and plastic cards operations and money transfers totaling AZN 15,625,045 and AZN 17,491,406,

respectively.

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance on
credit institutions during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

amounts due from

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2018 62,650,798 - - 62,650,798
New assets originated 32,696,157 - - 32,696,157
Assets repaid

- Principal (27,015,195) - - (27,015,195}

- Interest (292,941) - - (292,941)
Unwinding of discount 347,318 - - 347,318
Amounts written off - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments {1,813,856) - - (1,813,856)
At 31 December 2018 66,572,281 - - 66,572,281

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL as at 1 January 2018 {4,179) - . (4,179)
New assets originated (130,702) - - (130,702)
Assets repaid

- Principal 2,640 - - 2,640

- Interast 4,831 - - 4,931
Unwinding of discount (4,932) - - (4,932)
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL

calculations (235) - - (235)
Amounts written off - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments 161 - - 161
At 31 December 2018 {132,316) - - (132,316)

Movements in allowances for impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the impact of adopting

IFRS 9 are disclosed in Note 6.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {Continued)

(in Azerbaijan Manats)

Loans to customers

l.oans to customers comprise:

Loans to corporate customers
Loans to individuals
Gross loans to customers at amortised cost

31 December
2018

1,242,821,009
207,664,914

31 December
2017

1,166,668,374
208,374,011

1,450,485,923

1,375,042,385

(118,274,889)
1,332,211,034

(111,837,455)
1,263,204,930

Less allowance for impairment

Total loans to customers at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued Inleresl ncome Included in loans o cuslomers amounted to
AZN 53,889,819 and AZN 52,427,677, respeclively.

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to loans to corporate

customers during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Corporate customers Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2018 757,673,714 2,561,093 406,433,567 1,166,5668,374
New assets originated 544,985,632 - 32,286,590 577,272,222
Assels repaid

- Principal (342,101,160) (115,746) (164,722,992}  (506,939,898)

- Interest (42,192,141) (227,812) (15,069,543} (57,489,502}
Transfers to Stage 1 - - - -
Transfers to Stage 2 - - - -
Transfers to Stage 3 (479,809) (2,449,447 2,928,256 -
Unwinding of discount 42,560,220 232,056 24,731,296 67,523,572
Recoveries - - - -
Amounts written off - - (3,133,376) (3,133,376)
Foreign exchange adjustments (734.986) (144) (345,253) (1,080,383)
At 31 December 2018 959,711,470 - 283,109,539 1,242,821,009
Corporate customers Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL as at 1 January 2018 (719,352) (155,117} (62,902,770) (63,777,239)
New assets originated (390,731) - (2,322,827) (2,713,558)
Assets repaid

- Principal 167,622 8,625 13,451,559 13,627,806

- Interast 61,664 15417 3,244,562 3,321,643
Transfers to Stage 1 - - - -
Transfers to Stage 2 - - - -
Transfers to Stage 3 34,735 166,661 (201,396) -
Impact on period end ECL of exposures

transferred between stages during the period (32,155) (19,702} - {51,857)
Unwinding of discount {62,904) {(15,894) (9,489,100) (9,567,898)
Changes to models and inputs used for EGL

calculations 79,378 - (36,800,494) (36,721,116)
Recoveries - - - -
Amounts written off - - 3,133,376 3,133,376
Foreign exchange adjustments 377 10 25,800 26,187
At 31 December 2018 {861,366) - (91,861,290) (92,722,656)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(in Azerbaijan Manais)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and corresponding ECL in relation to loans to individuals
during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Individuals Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2018 132,634,406 2,655,176 73,084,429 208,374,011 -
New assets originated 213,984,297 105,598 39,127 214,129,022
Assets repaid

- Principal (179,542,691) (508,322) (28,243,778) (208,294,791}

- Interest (10,310,440} (195,585) {(6,390,102) (16,896,137}
Transfers to Stage 1 1,550,776 (1,380,010} (170,766) -
Transfers to Stage 2 (430,350} 430,350 - -
Transfors to Stage 3 (107,298} {681,157) 788,455 -
Unwinding of discount 10,3R6,162 184,503 7,830,844 18,371,508
Recouveries
Amounts written off - - (7,398,313} (7,398,313)
Foreign exchange adjusiments (3,135) (5) (617,247) (620,387)
At 31 December 2018 168,131,727 610,538 38,822,649 207,664,914
Individuals Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL as at 1 January 2018 {206,627) {403,428) {39,488,164) (40,098,219)
New assets ofiginated (214,826} {80) (3,672) (218,578)
Assets repaid

- Principal 99,208 29,336 11,531,635 11,660,177

- interest 58,629 18,375 4,747,502 4,825,506
Transfers to Stage 1 (16,410} 15,268 1,142 -
Transfers to Stage 2 93,670 (93,670} - -
Transfers to Stage 3 29,181 198,466 (227,647) -
Impact on period end ECL of exposures

transferred between stages during the period (131,412) 150,969 50,477 70,034
Unwinding of discount (327,260} (7,383) {5,700,042) {6,034,685)
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL

calculations (232,581} (11,826) (3,288,479) {3,532,886)
Recoveries - - - -
Amounis written off - - 7,398,313 7,398,313
Foreign exchange adjustments 57 3 378,045 378,105
At 31 December 2018 (848,373) (102,970)  (24,600,890)  (25,552,233)

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment of loans to customers by class during the year ended 31
December 2017 is as follows:

Corporate
loans Individuals Total

At 1 January 2017 (75,173,261) {30,419,658) (105,592,919)

Charge for the year (14,349,915) (11,861,559) (26,211,474}
Amounts written off 18,428,445 1,538,493 19,966,938
At 31 December 2017 (71,094,731) (40,742,724) (111,837,455)

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 for the year ended 31 December 2017 are disclosed in Note 6.

As at 31 December 2017 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 174,807,381 that were
individually determined to be impaired.
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Loans are made in the following industry sectors:

Analysis by industry 2018 2017
Construction 364,751,270 494 271,135
Telecommunication 226,706,489 186,561,702
Iindividuals 207,664,914 208,374,011
Energy 180,568,059 15,405,739
Agriculture 129,472,169 122,263,196
Mining 126,734,433 148,007,306
Manufacturing 84,056,932 51,339,531
Trading 76,525,532 99,786,533
Olligsr 54,006,125 49,033,232
1,450,485,923 1,375,042 385
Less allowance for impairment _(118,2/4,889) (I11,837.455)

Total loans to customers

Loans to individuals comprise the following products:

2018 2017
Mortgage loans 116,098,553 113,570,814
Consumer loans 55,765,196 30,086,850
Business loans 32,023,875 62,450,937
Auto loans 3,101,550 1,699,899
Credit cards 675,740 565,511
207,664,914 208,374,011
Less allowance for impairment (25,552,233) (40,742,724)
Total [oans to individuals 182,112,681 167,631,287

31 December

31 December

1,332,211,034

1,263,204,930

31 December

31 December

The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by collateral, rather than the fair value of the

collateral itself:

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
Loans collateralized by real estate 668,513,749 645,878,033
Loans collateralized by cash 154,564,618 159,231,827
Loans collateralized by equipment 150,847,270 202,821,930
Loans collateralized by guarantees 93,991,980 135,471,967
Loans collateralized by vehicles 3,674,389 1,849,807
Loans collateralized by trade receivable 1,865,015 12,316,019
Unsecured loans 377,028,902 217,472,802

1,450,485,923

1,375,042,385

{118,274,889)
1,332,211,034

(111,837,455}
1,263,204,930

Less allowance for impairment

Total loans to customers

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Bank granted 11 and 11 loans totaling AZN 786,098,661 and AZN
776,255,300, respectively, which individually exceeded 10% of the Group's equity.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 261,271,476 and
AZN 335,128,233, respectively, whose terms have been renegotiated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(in Azerbaijan Manats)

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, 61% and 60% of total amount of loans to customers are given to 14 and
12 entities, respectively.

A significant amount of loans (100% of loans to customers) is granted to companies operating in the
Republic of Azerbaijan, which represents significant geographical concentration in one region.

Forfeiting

Forfeiting comprise:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Forleiling operations with customers - 4,589,966
Less allowance for impairment losses - _ {(91,799)
Total forfeiting - 4,498,1G7

Movements in allowances for impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 are disclosed in Note 6.

Investment securities

Investment securities comprise:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Equity securities at FVOGI 447,258 179,650
Debt securities at amortised cost 165,074,412 236,644,596
Total investment securities 165,521,670 236,324,246

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued interest income included in investments securities amounted to
AZN 1,057,578 and AZN 1,303,289, respectively.

Equity securities at FVOCI Share 31 December Share 31 December
% 2018 % 2017

Azerbaijan Credit Bureau LLC 12.5 250,000 - -
Baku Stock Exchange CJSC 478 135,000 4.76 135,000
Millikart LTD 1 40,000 1 40,0600
Boradigah Cay-2 QJSC 2.55 17,800 -
SWIFT SCRL 4,458 4,650
Total equity securities 447,258 179,650
Debt securities at amortised cost Coupon 31 December Coupon 31 December
rate 2018 rate 2017

Notes issued by Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic 8% 122,419,900 15% 194,137,077
Bonds issued by SOCAR 5% 27,448,641 5% 27,450,258
Eurobonds issued by CJSGC Southern Gas Corridor (SGC) 7% 14,903,551 7% 15,019,357
Bonds issued by Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Azerbaijan 10% 368,110 15% 37,906
Notes issued by other organisations 12% 20,000 -
165,160,202 236,644,596

Less: allowance for impairment (85,790) -
Total debt securities 165,074,412 236,644,596
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(in Azerbaijan Manats)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying values and associated ECLs in relation to debt securities at

amortized cost is as follows:

Debt securities at amortised cost

Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2018
New assets originated or purchased
Assets repaid

- Principal

- Interest

Assets sold
Unwinding of discount (recognised in interest
Income)

Amounls willlen off
Foreign exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2018

Debt securities at amortised cost

ECLs as at 1 January 2018
New assels originated or purchased
Assets repaid

- Principal

- Interest

Assets sold

Unwinding of discount (recognised in interest
revenue)

Changes o models and inputs used for ECL
calculations

Amounts written off

Foreign exchange adijustments

At 31 December 2018

All balances of investment securities are allocated to Stage 1.

Central Bank SGC and
of the AR SOCAR others Total
194,137,077 27,450,256 15,057,263 236,644,596
1,901,984,207 - 12,294,985 1,914,279,192
{1,973,450,863) - (5,586,845) (1,279,037,708)
(12,833,014) (1,358,4980) (974,695) (15,166,199)
- - (6,388,351) (6,388,351}
12,682,493 1,368,186 90,195 14,831,174
- (1,611) (891) (2,602)
122,419,900 27,448,641 15,291,661 165,160,202
Central Bank SGC and
of the AR SOCAR others Total
(19,687) {122,923) (17,527) (160,137)
(192,423) - (13,432) {205,855)
169,653 - 5,881 205,534
1,298 3,137 662 5,097
- - 7,580 7,580
{1,273) (3,137) (614) {5,024)
47 59,527 7,434 67,008
. 4 3 7
{12,385) (63,392) (10,013) (85,790)

Movements in allowances for impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the impact of adopting

IFRS 9 are disclosed in Note 6.

In 2018, the Group received dividends of AZN 24,000 from Baku Stock Exchange CJSC which was recorded
in the consolidated statement as other income.
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19.

20.

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Investment properties

Investment properties comprise:

Investment property at fair value at beginning of the year

Fair value gains

Investment properties at fair value at end of the year

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
6,825,306 6,783,500
201,940 41,806
7,027,246 6,825,306

The fair valug of investment property as at 31 [lecember 2(1¥ was determined on [@ March 2019 by AIS
Aznteliekiservice, who holds a recognized professional qualiflcation The basis used fur the appraisal was

market value.

Rental income derived irom investment properties

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that generated

rental income

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that did not

generate rental income

Other assels

Other assets comprise:

Other financial assets
Settlements on money transfers and plastic cards
Accrued interests on other operations

Other non-financial assets

Collateral repossessed

Deferred expenses

Prepaid operating leases

Prepayments and receivables on other transactions
Prepayments for purchase of property and equipment
Prepaid operating taxes

Prepayments for purchases of intangible assets
Other

Less: Provision for impairment of other non-financial assets

Total other assels

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December 2018 December 2017
359,368 359,029
(322,192) {296,052)
(15,682) (15,569)

21,494 47,408

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
3,846,188 4,257,248
20,447 -
60,716,298 27,123,491
777,336 913,771
538,602 623,253
494,123 1,482,539
217,860 160,719
218,584 3,362,809
181,818 359,363
231,800 38,823
67,243,056 38,322,014
(7,976,732) (11,299,624)
59,266,324 27,022,390
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manais)

The movements in provision for impairment losses on other non-financial assets were as follows:

Other non-
financial assets

31 December 2016 (4,685,784)
Provision (6,613,840}
. 31 December 2017 (11,299,624}
Recovery of provision 3,039,742
Write-off 283,150
31 December 2018 {7,976,732)

21. Amounts due to banks and government agencies

Amounts due to banks and government agencies comprise:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Amount due to the National Fund for Support of Entrepreneurship 127,381,325 114,122,893
Long-term deposits from banks 103,800,00 85,005,000
Shori-term deposits from banks - 10,200,600
Amount due to Azerhaijan Mortgage Fund 57,561,707 53,584,891
Amount due to State Oil Company of Azerbaijan Republic 34,684,907 33,883,773
Loans from the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic 24,091,778 31,491,778
Correspondent accounts of ather banks 20,617,783 25,645,162
Amount due to the National Depository Center 8,020,133 2,708,629
Total amounts due to banks and government agencies 376,157,633 356,642,796

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued interest expense included in due to banks and government
agencies amounted to AZN 234,280 and AZN 209,016, respectively.

22. Customer accounts

Customer accounts comprise:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Time deposits 859,948,574 949,788,266
Repayable on demand 475,085,212 233,668,214
Total customer accounts 1,335,034,786 1,183,456,480

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 accrued interest expense included in customer accounts amounted to
AZN 775,653 and AZN 763,978, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 customer accounts amounting to AZN 1,004,262,036 and AZN
915,087,508 were due to 16 and 14 customers representing a significant concentration, being approximately
75% and 77%, respectively.
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23.

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manats)

An analysis of customer accounts by economic sector follows:

Individuals
Investing
Energy
Transport and communication
Insurance

Trade
Construction
Manufacturing
Agrleullure
Slale institulions
Olher

Total customer accounts

Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

Other financial liabilities

Settlements on money transfers and plastic cards
Professional fees payable

Accrued expenses

Other non-financial liabilities
Payables toc the employees

Payables to the Deposit Insurance Fund
Taxes other than income tax

Deferred revenue

Other

Total other liabilities

31 December
2018

734,096,585
245,735,318
143,107,979
67,064,753
44,913,408
31,706,733
29,493,369
18,178,382
6,941,275
6,040,272
7,756,712

31 December
2017

780,877,314
177,452,950
72,988,268
65,733,677
47,555,189
8,994,600
4,907,531
5,422,041
16,133,288
1,168,243
2,223,479

1,335,034,786

1,183,456,480

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
1,768,468 1,583,012
107,262 53,100
76,254 85,443
3,276,740 2,450,423
880,254 948,823
733,992 549,041
32,229 1,570,283
212,372 324,221
7,087,571 7,564,346
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manats)

. Share capital

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Banks's authorized, issued and fully paid capital amounted 1o AZN
225,078,600 comprising of 3,630,300 ordinary shares with a par value of AZN 62 per ordinary share. Each
share entitles one vote to the shareholder.

Movements in ordinary shares outstanding, issued and fully paid were as follows:

Nominal price Number of Share capital

of one share ordinary shares AZN

31 December 2016 58.30 3,630,300 211,646,490
Gapltafization of retained earninge 3.70 - 13,432,110
31 December 2017 62.00 3,630,300 225,078,600
Increase in share capital - - -
31 Pecember 2018 62.00 3,630,300 225,078,600

On 25 September 2018 Shareholders of the Bank declared dividends in the amount of AZN 5,989,995 on
ordinary shares which was paid as at 31 December 2018.

. Commitments and contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in
order to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group’s commitments and contingencies comprised the following:

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Credit related commitments

Unused credit lines 192,524,895 58,656,136
Letters of credit 1,701,816 10,398,073
Financial guarantees 22,029,552 11,819,153
216,256,263 80,874,362

Operating lease commitments
Not |ater than 1 year 296,874 296,874
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,187,497 1,187,497
Later than 5 years 219,809 516,683
1,704,180 2,001,054
Performance guarantees 24,322,271 13,893,396
Commitments and contingencies before deducting collateral and provision 242,282,714 96,768,812
Less: provisions for ECL for credit related commitments (61,703} (203,376)
Less: cash held as security against letters of credit and guarantees {21,896,159) (24,336.,841)
Commitments and contingencies 220,324,852 72,228,585
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(in Azerbaijan Manats)

An analysis of changes in the ECL allowance during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows: .

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL as at 1 January 2018 (19,843) (4) (116,390) (136,237)
New exposures {6,663) - - (6,663)
Amounts paid 16,077 - 223 16,300
Expired exposures 275 4 64,276 64,555
Transfers to Stage 1 - - - -
Transters to Stage 2 - - - -
Transfers to Stage 3 427 - (427} -
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL

calculations (85) - (20,936) (21,021)
Aintounts wrillon off 21,363 21,363
At 31 Dacembar 2018 (9,812) - (s1,891)  (61,703)

Movements in allowances for impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the impact of adopting
IFRS 9 are disclosed in Note 6.

Capital commitments — The Group had no material commitments for capital expenditures outstanding as at
31 December 2018.

Legal proceedings - From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are
received from customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no material unaccrued
losses will be incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in these consclidated financial
statements.

Taxes - Azerbaijan commercial legislation and tax legislation in particular may give rise to varying
interpretations and amendments. In addition, as management's interpretation of tax legislation may differ
from that of the tax authorities, transactions may be chalfenged by the tax authorities, and as a result the
Group may be assessed additional taxes, penaities and interest. Tax years remain open to review by the tax
authorities for three years. Management believes that the Group has already made all tax payments that are
due, and therefore no provisions have been made in these consolidated financial statements for any
potential liabilities.

Pensions and retirement plans - Employees receive pension benefits from the Republic of Azerbaijan in
accordance with the laws and regulations of the country. As at 31 December 2018 the Group was not liable
for any supplementary pensions, post-retirement health care, insurance benefits, or retirement indemnities to
its current or former employees.

Operating environment - The Group's principal business activities are within Azerbaijan. Laws and
regulations affecting the business environment in Azerbaijan are subject to rapid changes and the Group’s
assets and operations could be at risk due to negative changes in the political and business environment.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 Decemher 2018 (Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Transactions with related parties

Related parties or transactions with related parties in the Group, as defined by IAS 24 “Related party
disclosures”, represent:

(a) Parties that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries: control, or are controlled by, or
are under common control with, the Group {this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries); have an interest in the Group that gives then significant influence over the Group; and
that have joint control over the Group;

{b) Associates - enterprises in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint venture of the investor;

{c) Members of key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

{d) Close members of the family of any individuals referred to in (a) or (c);

(o) Partles that are cntitles controlled, Jointly controlled or signlficantly intluenced by, or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in
{c) or (d).

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, and not merely the legal form. The Group had the following transactions outstanding as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 with related parties:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Related party Total category Related party Total category
transactions as per financial transactions as per financial

statements statements
caption caption
Loans to customers 1,450,485,923 1,375,042,385
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group - 54,574,685
- key management personnel of the entity 803,850 770,353
Allowance for impairment losses (118,274,889} (111,837,455}
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
nterest is owned by shareholders of the Group - (1,051,272)
- key management personnel of the entity {1,385} (7,283)
Customer accounts 1,335,034,786 1,183,456,480
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 54,365,749 83,871,364
- key management personnel of the entity 1,422,576 1,141,950
Guarantees issued 46,351,823 25,712,549
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
imerest is owned by shareholders of the Group 612,010 612,010
Urused loan commitments 192,524,895 58,656,136
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group - 17,911,990
- key management personnel of the entity 142,702 89,516
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {Continued)

(in Azerbaijan Manals)

Included in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are the
following amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:

Interest income
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by sharsholders of the Group

- key management personnel of the entity
Inleresl expense

- sharehulders and enlities i which & substartial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group

- key management personnel of the entity

Fee and commission income

- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group

- key management personnel of the entity

Other income

- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group

General and administrative expenses

- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group

Key management personnel compensation:

shori-term employee benefits

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Related party Total category Related party Total category
transactions as per financlal transactions as per financial

statements statements
caption caption
109,389,694 100,130,599
- 3,623,609
77,519 66,677
(23,150,018) (25,8652,727)
(1,778,203) (1,620,214)
{12,730) {(17,146)
7,563,645 7,996,651
11,851 114,631
232 1,097
954,049 1,104,813
438,792 420,792
(13,863,957) {(12,115,114)
(598,937} (607,363)
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Related party Total category Related party Total category
transactions as per financial transactions as per financial

statements statements
caption caption
1,739,249 21,330,532 443,037 15,434,956
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalgq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)

{in Azerbaijan Manais)

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments

by valuation technigue:

o Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

¢ Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

e Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

maasurement lg unobgervable.

The following table shows an analysis of financial imstruments recorded at fair value by level of the falr value

hierarchy:

Assets measured at fair value
Investment securities
Investment property

Assets for which fair values are
disclosed

Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals

Amounts due from credit institutions
Loans to customers

Investment securities

Cther assets

Assets

Liabilities for which fair values are
disclosed

Amounts due to banks and government
agencies

Customer accounts

Other liabilities

Liabilities

31 Pecember

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018 Total

- 447,258 - 447,258

- 7.027 246 - 7,027,246
168,662,727 - 109,548,785 278,209,512
14,989,411 . - 14,989,411
24 441,524 - 41,998,441 66,439,965

- - 1,332,211,034 1,332,211,034

- - 165,074,412 165,074,412

- - 3,846,188 3,846,188
208,093,662 7,474,504 1,652,676,860 1,868,245,026
- - 376,157,633 376,157,633
475,085,212 - 859,949,574 1,335,034,786
- - 1,768,468 1,768,468
475,085,212 - 1,237,875,675 1,712,960,887
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(in Azerbaijan Manats)

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017 Total
Assetls measured at fair value
Investment securities - 179,650 . 179,650
Investment property - 6,825,306 - 6,825,306
Assets for which fair values are
disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 97,072,930 - 10,012,083 107,085,013
Precious metals 15,305,466 - - 15,305,466
Amounts due from credit institutions 25,861,881 - 36,371,003 62,232,884
L oane to customors - 1,263,204,930 1,203,804,930
Invostmon! sooulilios - 236,644,606 236,644,596
Futfeiling 1,498,167 4,488,167
Other assets - 4,257,246 4,257,246
Assets 138,240,277 7,004,956 1,554,888,025 1,700,233,258
Liabilities for which fair values are
disclosed
Amounts due to banks and government
agencies - - 356,642,796 356,642,796
Customer accounts 233,668,214 - 940,788,266 1,183,456,480
Qther liabilities - - 1,683,012 1,583,012
Liabilities 233,668,214 - 1,308,014,074 1,541,682,288

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities compared with the corresponding carrying amount in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group is presented below:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value

amount amount
Cash and cash equivalents 278,208,512 278,209,512 107,085,013 107,085,013
Precious metals 14,989,411 14,989,411 15,305,466 15,305,466
Amounts due from credit institutions 66,439,965 66,439,965 62,232,884 62,232,884
Loans to customers 1,332,211,034 1,332,211,034 1,263,204,930 1,263,204,930
Investment securities 165,521,670 165,621,670 236,824,246 236,824,246
Other financial assets 3,846,188 3,846,188 4,257,246 4,257,246

Amounts due to banks and government agencies 376,157,633 376,157,633 356,642,796 356,642,796
Customer accounts 1,335,034,786 1,335,034,786  1,183,456,480 1,183,456,480
Other financial liabilities 1,768,468 1,768,468 1,583,012 1,583,012

The fair value of equity securities included in investment securities cannot be measured reliably. As at 31
December 2018 and 2017 the cost of them was AZN 447,258 and AZN 179,650, respectively. Since these
shares are not publicly traded and the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant, it is not
possible to estimate their fair value.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manats)

Valuation techniques and assumptions

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial
instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements.

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short-term maturity {less than three
months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also
applied to demand deposits and savings accounts without a specific maturity.

Investment securities

Ihvestnent securllies valued uslng a valuallon lechnique or pricing models primarlly conslsl of unguoled
gyUily and debl securities. These securitles are valued using models which somelimes only incorporale dala
observable in the market and at other times use both obhservable and non-observable data The non-
observable inputs to the models include assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the
investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in
which the investee oporates.

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortized cost

The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans to customers, customer deposits, amounts due from credit
institutions and amounts due-to banks and government organizations and other financial assets and
liabilities, ebligations under finance leases is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently
available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Regulatory matiers

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Group fo maintain
minimum amounis and ratios {(as set forth in the table below) of total {10%) and tier 1 capital (5%) to risk
weighted assets.

As at 31 December 2018 the Group’s fotal capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN
267,440,648 and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 265,348,129 with ratios of 15% and 15%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group’s total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN
256,100,240 and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 239,448,701 with ratios of 15% and 14%, respectively.

In addition, the Group has to maintain a statutory capital adequacy ratioc based on the Central Bank of
Azerbaijan Republic requirements. During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group was in
compliance with the minimum capital requirements imposed by the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic.

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Management Board reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this review, the
Board considers the cost of capital and the rigks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Board, the Group balances its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group's overall capital risk management policy remains unchanged from 2017.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
{in Azerbaijan Manais)

Risk management policies

Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Group's
operations. The main risks inherent to the Group's operations are those related to credit exposures, liquidity
and market movements in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. A description of the Group’s risk
management policies in relation to those risks follows. The Group manages the following risks:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to
discharge their contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on
the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry
concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in refation to such limits.

The Group has established a ctedil qualily 1eview process to provide early identlflcation of possibie changes
In the creditwarthiness of courderpartles, Including regular collateral revisions. Counlerparty limits are
established by the use of a credit risk classification system. The credit quality review process allows
the Group to assess the polenlial loss as a resull of e tisks lo which it is exposed and take corrective
action.

Derivative financial instruments

Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those with positive fair
values, as recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit-related commitments risks

The Group makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Group make payments
on their behalf. Such payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the letter of credit. They
expose the Bank to similar risks to loans and these are mitigated by the same control processes and
policies.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position,
including derivatives, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral
agreements, is best represented by their carrying amounts.

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the carrying value represents the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

Impairment assessment

From 1 January 2018, the Group calculates ECL based on several probability-weighted scenarios to
measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the
difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive. The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the
key elements are as follows:

PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been
previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of
principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on
committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

LGD The Loss Given Defaultis an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at
a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those
that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is
usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.
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The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime
expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination,
in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the
portion of LTECL that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of
whether a financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since inittal recognition, by considering
the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. Based on the
above process, the Group groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described below:

Stage 1:  When loans are first recognised, the Group recognises an allowance based on 12mECL.
Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been
ieclassilied hom Slage 2 arnd Slaye 3.

Stage 2:  When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit nsk smce ongination, the Group
records an allowance for the L TECI

Stage 3:  Loans considered credit-impaired. [ he Group records an allowance for the LTECL.

POCI: Furchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition
and interest income is subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECL are only
recognised or released 10 the extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit
losses.

Definition of default and cure

A financial instrument impairment event is determined at the borrower level for all portfolios except for the
retail borrowers’ portfolio. For retail borrowers, the impairment event is determined at the financial instrument
level. The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

. More than 90 calendar days of overdue debt at the reporting date for all segments except transactions
with financial institutions and issuers of securities;

. More than 7 working days of overdue debt at the reporting date for transactions with financial
institutions and issuers of securities;

. The counterparty / issuer was declared bankrupt by the court, or the court introduced bankruptcy
procedures in relation to the borrower. This criterion applies to all portfolics with the exception of the
porttfolio of retail borrowers;

. Assignment of a regulatory quality category 4 or 5 to the contract at the reporting date;

. Default / forced restructuring due to the financial difficuliies of the borrower (applicable except for
transactions with financial institutions and securities). Default / forced restructuring refers to a change
in the terms of a contract recognized as a forced restructuring by the Group, which are a
consequence of the borrower's inability to perform the obligations specified in the contract, and are
caused by a deterioration in the credit quality of the borrower;

. Revocation of the license and the introduction of an interim administration (applicable io financial
institutions and issuers of securities).

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition,
then the loss allowance on an instrument retuins to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative
indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency of forbearance, may be indicative of an
fncreased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group
determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrated good behavior to
provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. Probation criteria for recovery and transfer of
financial instruments to Stage 1 are as follows:

. No overdue debt (0 days overdue) for three consecutive reporting months for retail borrowers;

. No overdue debt or overdue indebtedness for twelve consecutive reporting months for corporate
counterparties and individual entrepreneurs with annuity payments.
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Generating the term structure of PD

The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk by type of product as well as by
borrower's segment. For some portfolios, information purchased from external credit reference agencies is
also used.

The Group employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining
lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time.

Treasury and interbank relationships

The Group’s treasury and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise financial services institutions,
banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses For these relationships, the Group's credit risk
depatlinent analyses publcly available information such as financial informatlon and other external data,
e.q., the external ratings, and assigns the internal rating, as shown in the table below.

Corporate and smalf business lending

For corporate loans, tho borrowors are assessed by specialised credit risk employees of the Group The
credit risk assessment is based on a credit scoring model that takes into account various historical, current
and forward-looking information such as:

) Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This
financial information includes realised and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any
other relevant ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are
captured in covenants with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention.

. Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating
grades issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond prices or press
releases and articles.

. Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client's management
relevant for the company's performance.

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Group and the
complexity and size of the customer. Some of the less complex small business loans are rated within the

Group’s modeis for retail products.
Consumer lending and residential mortgages

Consumer lending comprises unsecured personal loans, credit cards and overdrafts. These products along
with residential mortgages and some of the less complex small business lending are rated by an automated
scorecard tool primarily driven by debt to income (DT!), loan to value (LTV)} and payment to income (PTI)
ratios.
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The Group’s internal credit rating grades are as follows:

Internaticnal
exlernal rating agency Internal rating
Internal rating grade (Fitch) rating description Lifetime PD

AA+to AAA
AA
>13 A+ to AA- High grade 0-0.06%
A-
BBB+
BBB
BE-
8-13 BB+ Standard grade 0.06-0.45%
BB to BB
B- to B+ .
4-8 cCC Sub-standard grade 0.45-100%
CCGC-
<4 D impaired 100%

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
. probability of default (PD);

. loss given default (LGD);

. exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL
is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading “Generating the term structure of
pPD.

The Bank estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted
counierparties. The LGD models consider repayments of principal and interest amounts for defaulted
customers in each segment. In corporate portfolio, recovery amounts are computed on a customer base,
while it in credit cards and consumer loan portfalios it is calculated on a contract level. They are calculated
on a discounted cash flow basis using first available contractual rate as the discounting factor, as it is
considered as the best proxy of effective interest rate at origination. For mortgage loans, haircut was applied
to the collaterals.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from the current
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and
arising from amortization. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For
lending commitments, the EAD is potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are
estimated based on historical observations.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the
Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum coniractual period (including any
borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management
purpeses, the Bank considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which
the Bank has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment.
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Significant increase in credit risk

The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting
period. Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the
financial instrument and the borrower, and the geographical region. What is considered significant will differ
for different types of lending, in particular between corporate and retail.

As a general indicator, credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since
initial recognition if, based on the Group’s qualitative criteria:

. the presence of the fact of overdue debt for 31-80 days for all segments except transactions with
financial institutions and issuers of securities;

. the presence of the fact of debt overdue by 1-7 working days for transactions with financial institutions
and issuers of sectuirities;

. the prosence of the fact of overduo dobt more than 90 days under other agreements of the borrowar
for the retail porifolio;

. reduction of financial suppert from the parent company or anether affiliated enterprise;

. the Group receives reliable negative information about products issued to the borrower.

Days past due are determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect
of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any grace period
that might be available to the borrower.

Quantitative criteria (are applied only in the presence of external ratings):

. The relative change in the external rating at the reporting date compared to the external rating at the
recognition date according to the criteria given in table below.

Criteria for determining a significant increase in credit risk depending on the value of the external rating upon
initial recognition.

Counterparty external rating at initial recognition S;"ii';':::?;r:zg:rease in credit
Moody's Fitch S&P
1 AAA AAA AAA
2 Aat AA+ AA+
3 Aa2 AA AA
4 Aa3 AA- AA- Low credit risk: criferion is not
5 Al A+ At applied
6 A2 A A
7 A3 A- A
8 Baal BBB+ BBB+
9 Baa2 BBB BBB
10 Baald BBB- BBB-
11 Bai BB+ BB+
12 Ba2 BB BB Decrease of rating by 2 notches
13 Ba3 BB- BB-
14 B1 B+ B+
15 B2 B B
16 B3 B- B-
17 Caat Decrease of rating by 1 notch
18 Caa2 CCC-C CCC-C
19 Caa3
20 Ca-C
21 D D D
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Forward-looking information and multiple economic scenarios

In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs,
such as:

Real GDP;
. Consumer Price Index;
. Oil price;

The Group formulates one economic scenario: a base case. The base case is aligned with information used
by the Group for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The historical data of defaults use
ihe statistics of CBAR on the share of overdue loans in total loans to individuals in the banking system. The
assessment of the impact of macroeconomic information should be made at least on an annual basis.

The Group has identified and dooumontod koy drivore of cradit riek and credit losses for the entire loan
portfolio (including the securities portfolio, requiroments for financial institutions), ueing an analysis of
historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-economic varlables and credit risk and credit
losses.

The key driver is Real GDP growth forecast. The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2018
included the following key indicators for the Republic of Azerbaijan for the years ending 31 December 2019
through 2023.

Years Real GDP
growth rate

2019 3.50%
2020 3.20%
2021 2.40%
2022 2.40%
2023 2.30%

Predicted relationships between the key indicator and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial
assets have been developed based on analyzing historical data over the past 5 years.
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Credit quality per class of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group internal credit ratings, as described above.
The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for loan-refated lines in the consolidated statement
of financial position, based on the Group’s credit rating system.

Cash ard cash equivalents, except
for cash on hand

Amount due from credit institutions

Loans to customers at amortised cost
Loang 1o oorporate oustomera

-Loans to individuals
Auto loans

Consumer loans

Morigage loans

Credit cards

Business loans

Investment securities
- Debt securities at amortised cost

Letters of credit
Financial guarantees

Undrawn loan commitments

Totai

Note

i3 Siage 1
14 Stage 1

tb
Stago 1
Btuge 2
Stage 3

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
17 Stage 1
25 Stage 1
25 Stagel
25 Stage 1

Stage 2
Stage 3

Standard Sub-standard
High grade grade grade Impaired Total
231,398,126 3,855,063 8,675 - 235,261,864
47,695,724 18,876,556 - - 66,572,281
68,000,600 809,660,266 81,762,216 - 958,711,470
- - - 283,109,539 283,109,539
- 2,656,987 87,442 - 2,744,429
- - 1,021 - 1,021
- - - 356,099 356,099
- 43,724,224 495,986 - 44,220,210
- - 17,900 - 17,900
- - - 11,527,086 11,527,086
- 53,140,826 56,878,936 - 110,019,762
- - 492,781 - 482,781
- - - 5,586,010 5,586,010
14,417 514,978 - - 529,395
- 98,835 - - 98,835
- - - 32,946 32,946
- 10,312,277 305,657 . 10,617,934
- - - 21,420,506 21,420,506
137,691,561 27,448,641 20,000 - 165,160,202
- 1,701,816 - - 1,701,816
- 22,029,552 - - 22,028,552
485,980 189,852,324 1,235,427 - 191,573,730
- 1,165 . - 1,165
- - - 950,000 950,000
485,285,808 1,184,172,499 141,296,040 322,982,187 2,133,736,533
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The table below shows gross balances under 1AS 39 as at 31 December 2017 based on the Group's internal

credit rating systemn:

Neither past due nor impaired

Standard Sub-standard Past due but Individually

High grade grade grade notimpaired impaired Total
Cash and cash equivalents, except
for cash on hand 42,100,798 28,782,291 145,908 - - 71,028,997
Amount due frem credit institutions 45,575,916 17,074,882 - - - 62,650,798
Loans to customers - 607,961,487 592,236,859 36,658 174,807,381  1,375,042,385
Forfelting - 4,589,966 . - - 4,589,966
Investment securities - 236,644,596 - - - 236,644,596
fatal 81,676,714 805,053,800 50,388,767 36,668 174,807,381  [,740,056,742

The following table details the carrying value of assets that are impaired and the ageing of those that are

past due but not impaired:

Financial assets past due but not impaired

31 December 2017

Neither past 0-3 3-6 6 months Greater Financial Total

due nor months months to1year thanone assetsthat

impaired year have been

impaired

Cash and cash equivalents, except

for cash on hand 71,028,997 - - - - - 71,028,997
Amounis due from credit institutions 62,650,798 - - - - - 62,650,798
Loans to customers 1,200,198,346 14,441 21,735 217 265 174,807,381 1,375,042,385
Forfeiting 4,589,966 - - - - - 4,589,966
Investments available for sale 236,644,596 - - - - - 236,644,596
1,575,112,703 14,441 21,735 217 265 174,807,381 1,749,956,742

Total

Maximum Exposure

The Groups maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependant on both individual risks
and general market economy risks. The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of
financial assets and contingent liabilities. For financial assets the maximum exposure equals to a carrying
value of those assets prior to any offset or collateral. For financial guarantees and other contingent liabilities
the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Group would have to pay if the guarantee
was called on or in the case of commitments, if the loan amount was called on,

Amounts due from credit institutions

Loans to customers
Investment securities

Maximum
exposure

66,439,865
1,332,211,034
165,521,670

Net exposure
after offset

66,439,965
1,177,646,416
165,521,670

31 December 2018

Net exposure

Collateral
after offset
Pledged and collateral
- 66,439,965
800,617,514 377,028,902
165,054,412 457,258
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Maximum
exposure
Amounts due from credit institutions 62,232,884
Loans to customers 1,263,204,930
fnvestment securities 236,824,246
Forfeiting 4,498,167

Geographical concentration

Net exposure
after offset

62,232,884
1,103,973,103
236,824,246
4,498,167

31 December 2017

Collateral
Pledged

886,500,301
236,644,596

Net exposure
after offset
and collateral

62,232,884
217,472,802
179,650
4,498,167

The Assets and Liabilities Managemeni Committee exarcises control over the risk in lhe legislalion and
regulatory arena and assess its influence on the Group’s activity. This approach allows the Group to
minimize potential losses from the investment climate fluctuations in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Group's
Management Board sets up country limits, which mainly applies to banks of the Commonwealth of
Independent States and Baltic countries.

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below:

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals

Amounts due from credit institutions
Loans to customers

Investment securities

Property and equipment

Investment property

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Amounts due to banks and government
agencies

Customer accounts

Provision for impairment logses on
other operations

Current income tax liability

Deferred income tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net position

The Republic CIS and other OECD 31 December
of Azerbaijan countries couniries 2018 Total
192,882,568 1,253,034 84,073,910 278,209,512
14,989,411 - - 14,989,411
17,403,531 - 49,036,434 66,439,965
1,332,211,034 - - 1,332,211,034
165,517,212 - 4,458 165,521,670
66,571,711 - - 66,571,711
7,027,246 - - 7,027,246
1,511,655 - - 1,511,655
59,136,082 - 130,242 59,266,324
1,857,250,450 1,253,034 133,245,044 1,991,748,528
376,157,633 - - 376,157,633
1,335,034,786 - - 1,335,034,786
61,703 - - 61,703
4,159,131 - . 4,159,131
2,387,920 - - 2,387,920
7,005,810 11 81,750 7,087.571
1,724,806,983 11 81,750 1,724,888,744
132,443,467 1,253,023 133,163,294
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The Republic CIS and other OECD 31 December
of Azerbaijan countries countries 2017 Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 54,479,452 815,417 51,790,144 107,085,013
Precious metals 15,305,466 - - 15,305,466
Amounts due from credit institutions 8,589,242 - 53,643,642 62,232,884
Loans to customers 1,263,204,930 - - 1,263,204,930
Forfeiting 4,498,167 - - 4,498,167
Investment securities 236,818,596 - 4,650 236,824,246
Property and equipment 68,214,636 - - 68,214,636
Investment property 6,825,306 - - 6,825,306
Intangible assets 1,551,970 - - 1,551,970
Other assets 26,921,654 25,979 74,757 27,022,390
Total assets 1,686,410,419 841,396 105,613,193 1,792,7G5,000
Liabilities
Amounts due to banks and government
agencies 356,642,796 - - 356,642,796
Customer accounts 1,183,456,480 - - 1,183,456,480
Provision for impairment losses on
other operations 203,376 - - 203,376
Current income tax liability 2,439,634 - - 2,439,634
Deferred income tax liability 1,457,705 - - 1,457,705
Other liabilities 7,511,890 6,914 45,542 7,564,346
Total liabilities 1,551,711,881 6,914 45,542 1,551,764,337
Net position 134,698,538 834,482 105,467,651
Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other financial
commitments associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. In order to manage liquidity risk,
the Group performs daily monitoring of expected future cash flows on clients’ and banking operations, which
is a part of the assets/liabilities management process. The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee
sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the
minimum level of interbank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at
unexpected levels of demand.

An analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following table. The tables have been
drawn up to detail:

(i) The remaining contractual maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabiiities (both interest and principal cash flows) based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay, and

(i) The expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets based on the undiscounted contractual
maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the
Group anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.
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Weighted Upto1 1monthto3 3 monthito1 1yearto 5 Over 5 Maturity 31 December
average month months year years years undefined 2018 Total
effective
interest

rate
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.95% 127,981,664 - - - - - 127,981,664
Amounts due from credit
institutions 1.64% - - 36,237,662 4,590,000 - - 40,827,662
Loans to customers 5.62% 111,756,896 7,957,862 226,196,622 574,526,861 407,854,380 - 1,328,292,621
investment securities 7.030, 121,780,587 - 20,000 27,531,205 14,685,043 - 164,016,834
Total interest bearing
assets at fived rates 233,537,483 7,957,862 282,454,284 606,648,066 422,539,422 - 1,633,137,117
Cash and caeh oquivalonts 150,227,848 - - - - - 150,227,848
Praolous meluls 14,089,411 - - - 14,989,411
Amounts dus from credit
lnstilullons 63,054 25,648,249 26,612,303
Loans to customers 1,929,422 - - - - 1,988,991 3,918,413
Investment securities - 1,05/,5/8 - - - 447 258 1,504,836
Other assets 3,866,635 231,800 - 52,739,566 - - 56,838,001
404,613,853 9,247,240 262,454,284 659,387,632 422,539,422 27,985,498 1,786,227,929
Liabilities
Amounts due to banks and
government agencies 2.19% 11,800,000 87,200,000 54,442,280 54,666,929 147,196,361 - 355,305,570
Customer accounts 1.74% 10,276,350 163,322,838 286,144,116 398,182,747 - - 857,926,051
Total interest bearing
ligbilities at fixed rates 22.076,350 250,522,838 340,586,396 452,849,676 147,196,361 - 1,213,231,621
Amounts due to banks and
government agencies 20,852,063 - - - - - 20,852,063
Customer accounts 460,547,388 - 1,069,254 200,000 - 15,202.093 477,108,735
Current income tax liability - - 4,158,131 - - - 4,159,131
Other liabilities 2,724,976 841,254 3,521,341 - - - 7,087,571
Guarantees issued 3,836,589 2,868,543 20,569,143 19,077,547 - - 46,351,823
Letters of credit 1,377,600 324,216 - - - - 1,701,816
Undrawn loan commitments 59,540 1,682,795 128,699,259 62,183,301 - - 192,524,895
511,474,505 256,139,647 498,604,524 534,310,524 147,196,361 15,292,093 1,963,017,655
Liquidity gap (106,860,653) (246,892,406) (236,150,240) 125,077,108 275,343,061
interest sensitivity gap for fixed rate
instruments 211,461,133 (242,564,976) (78,132,112) 153,798,390 275,343,061
interest sensitivity gap 211,461,133 (242,564,976) (78,132,112) 153,798,390 275,343,061
(109,235,855} 44,562,435 319,905,496

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap 211,461,133  (31,103,843)

56



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 {(Continued)

{in Azerbaifan Manats)

Weighted Upto1 1monthto3 3monthto1 1yearto5 Over 5 Maturity 31 December
average month months year years years undefined 2017 Total
effective
inferest

rate

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14.50% 10,000,000 - - - - - 10,000,000
Amounts due from credit
institutions 0.29% 10,574,243 14,987,055 11,014,905 - - - 36,576,204
Loans to customers 8.06% 17,939,490 1,742,835 237,643,592 597,088,244 404,026,267 - 1,258,440,427
Investment securities 9.86% 193,333,032 - - 27,170,998 14,837,277 - 235,341,308

Total interest bearing

assets at fixed rates 221,846,765 16,729,890 248,658,498 624,259,243 418,863,544 - 1,530,357,839
Cash and cash equivalenis 88,512,603 8,572,410 - - - - 97,085,013
Precigus metals 15,305,466 - - - - - 15,306,466
Armnouids due liom credit
institutions 8,185,275 17,481,406 26 666,680
Loans to customers 3,005,030 - - - - 1,759,473 4,764,503
Investment securities 804,045 494,244 - - - 179,650 1,482,939
Other asseis 4,257,246 952,594 - 15,823,867 - - 21,033,707
Forfeiting - 1,164,520 3,425,445 - - - 4,589,966

341,896,429 27,918,658 252,083,943 640,083,110 418,863,544 19,430,529 1,700,276,212

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks and
governmeni agencies 2.36% 10,900,000 85,015,361 43,001,770 51,249,797 140,621,690 - 330,788,617
Customer accounts 1.64% 14,207,119 167,736,300 480,232,570 285,997,805 - - 948,173,795

Total interest bearing

liabilities at fixed rates 25,107,119 252,751,661 523,234,340 337,247,603 140,621,680 - 1,278,962,412
Amounts due to banks and
government agencies 25,854,179 - - - - - 25,854,179
Customer accounts 220,665,997 - - - 870,000 13,746,689 235,282,686
Current income tax liability . 2,439,634 - - - - 2,439,634
Oiher liabilities 2,617,278 986,433 3,960,635 - - - 7,564,346
Guarantees issued 2,066,167 1,006,006 9,838,365 12,802,012 - - 25,712,549
Letters of credit - 42,503 10,356,570 - - - 10,398,073
Undrawn loan commitments 54,309 1,347,534 29,416,630 10,836,663 17,001,000 - 58,656,136

276,365,048 258,573,770 576,806,540 360,886,277 158,492,690 13,746,689 1,644,871,014

Liquidity gap 65,531,381 (230,655,113) (324,722,597) 279,196,833 260,370,854
Interest sensitivity gap for fixed rate
instruments 196,739,646 (236,021,772) (274,575,842) 287,011,640 278,241,854
Interest sensitivity gap 196,739,646 (236,021,772) (274,575,842) 287,011,640 278,241,854
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap 196,739,646 (39,282,125) (313,857.967) (26,846,327) 251,395,527
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Market Risk

Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and other pricing risks to which the Group is exposed.
There have been ne changes as to the way the Group measures risk or to the risk it is exposed in 2017.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating
rates. The risk is managed by the Group maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate
borrowings.

The ALMC also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Group’s interest rate position, which
provides the Group with a positive interest margin. The Department of Financial Control conducts monitoring
of the Group's current financial performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates
and its influence on the Group’s profitability.

The majority of the Group's loan contracts and other financial assets and liabilities that bear interest are
ellher varlabie or conlain clauses enabling lhe teres! rale o be changed at the opllon of the lender. The
Group monltors its Interest rate margln and consequently does nol conslder itsell exposed 1o signicant
Iinterest rate risk or consequential cash flow risk

Interest rate risk

The Group manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that could
arise from adverse changes in market conditions. The Department of Financial Control conducts menitering
of the Group’s current financial performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to changes in fair value
interest rates and its influence on the Group's profitability.

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined based on
“reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. The level of these changes is determined by management
and is contained within the risk reports provided to key management personnel.

Impact on profit before tax:

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
interest rate Interest rate interest rate Interest rate
+1% -1% +1% -1%
Assels:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,279,817 (1,279,817) 100,000 {100,000)
Amounts due from credit institutions 408,277 (408,277) 365,762 (365,762)
L.oans o customers 13,282,926 (13,282,926) 12,584,404 (12,584,404)
Investment securities 1,640,168 (1,640,168) 2,353,413 (2,353,413)
Liabilities:
Amounts due to banks and government
agencies (3,553,056} 3,553,056 {3,307.886) 3,307,886
Customer accounts (8,579,260} 8,579,260 {(9,481,738) 9,481,738
Net impact on profit before tax 4,478,872 (4,478,872) 2,613,955 {2,613,955)
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Currency risk

Gurrency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.

The Management Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies. These limits also comply with the
minimum requirements of the CBAR. The Group's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is

presented in the table below:

AZN usD EUR  Civencies 2018 Total
Assets
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 172,318,655 30,101,064 73,770,026 2,019,767 278,209,512
Pracious meluls 14,089,411 14,888,411
Amounts due from credlt Institutlons 6,873,294 11,89/,960 12,243,973 35,424,732 86,438,965
Loans o cuslomers 287,192 007 1, {2k, £30 A2y 449 288.4/8 - 1,3832,211,0034
Investment securities 123,165,020 42,352,192 4,458 - 165,521,670
Property and equipment 66,571,711 - - - 66,571,711
Investment property 7,027,246 - - - 7,027,246
Intangible assets 1,511,655 - - - 1,511,655
Other assets 58,631,019 444,587 190,718 - 59,266,324
Total assets 693,290,627 1,110,526,338 135,497,653 52,433,910 1,991,748,528
Liabilities
Amounts due to banks and
government agencies 285,239,850 120,915,846 1,398 539 376,157,633
Customer accounts 397,340,844 786,925,770 134,674,443 16,093,729 1,335,034,786
Provision for impairment fosses on
other operations 61,703 - - - 61,703
Current income tax liability 4,159,131 - - - 4,159,131
Deferred income tax liability 2,387,820 - - - 2,387,920
Other liabilities 5,045,187 1,118,222 924,157 5 7,087 571
Total liabilities 664,234,635 908,959,838 135,599,998 16,094,273 1,724,888,744
Net balance sheet position 29,055,892 201,566,500 (102,345} 36,339,637
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Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Precious metals

Amounts due from credit institutions
Leans to customers
Forfeiting

Investment securities
Property and eguipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Qther assets

lolal assets

L labilitles
Amounts due to banks and
government agencies

Customer accotints
Provision for impairment losses on
cther operations

Current income tax liability
Deferred income tax liabiiity
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net balance sheet position

Currency risk sensitivity

Other 31 December
AZN uso EUR currencies 2017 Total
32,817,367 68,848,866 4,245,851 1,172,929 107,085,013
- - - 15,305,466 15,305,466
8,572,410 15,613 17,066,625 36,578,236 62,232,884
414,965,542 802,783,804 45,455,584 - 1,263,204,930
- 4,498,167 - - 4,498,167
194,349,983 42,469.613 4,650 - 236,824,248
68,214,636 - - - 68,214,636
6,825,306 - - - 8,825,306
1,551,970 - . - 1,551,970
25,566,801 1,172,264 274,622 8,703 27,022,390
152,064,015 919, ¢66,327 67,047,332 53,065,334 1,782,765,000
235,792,034 120,820,574 30,104 84 356,642,796
358,584,898 742,003,601 66,711,378 16,066,603 1,183,456,480
203,376 - - - 203,376
2,439,634 - - - 2,439,634
1,457,705 - - - 1,457,705
3,890,591 3,433,624 140,125 6 7,564,346
602,468,238 866,347,798 66,881,607 16,066,693 1,551,764,337
150,395,777 53,440,528 165,725 36,998,641

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the USD and Euro
against the AZN. 10% is the sensiiivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
currency exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the period for a 10% change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group
where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017

AZN/USD AZN/USD AZN/USD AZN/USD
+10% -10% +10% -10%
Impact on profit or loss 20,156,650 {20,156,650} 5,344,053 (5,344,053}

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017

AZN/EURO AZN/EURQ AZN / EURO AZN / EURO
+10% -10% +10% -10%
Impact on profit or loss (10,235) 10,235 16,573 (16,573)
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Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be
noted that these sensitivities are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or
extrapolated from these resulis.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Group's assets and liabilities are actively
managed. Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any actual market
movement occurs. For example, the Group’s financial risk management strategy aims to manage the
exposure to market fluctuations. As investment markets move past various trigger levels, management
actions could include selling investments, changing investment portfolio aliocation and taking other protective
action. Consequently, the actual impact of a change in the assumptions may not have any impact on the
liabilities, whereas assets are held at market value on the consolidated statement of financial position. In
these circumstances, tho difforont moeasurement bases for liabilities and assets may lead to volatility in
shareholder equity.

Other Iimitations i the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to
demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group's view of possible near-term market changss that
cannot be predicted with any certainty; and the assumption that all interest rates move in an identical
fashion.

Events after the reporting period

On 11 February 2019 Shareholders of the Bank declared dividends in the amount of AZN 7,986,660 on
ordinary shares which was paid on 5 March 2019.

On 1 April 2019 Shareholders of the Bank decided to increase share capital of the Bank in the amount of
AZN 107,999,784,

61




